## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOHNNY SHANE KORMONDY, Appellant, vs.	CASE NO. SC96197
STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee.	_/

## **INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

CHET KAUFMAN Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 814253

NANCY DANIELS Public Defender Leon County Courthouse Suite 401 301 South Monroe Street Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (850) 488-2458

Attorney for Appellant

TAB	LE O	F CO	NTENTS i
TAB	LE O	F AUT	THORITIES vi
PRE	LIMI	NARY	STATEMENT & TYPEFACE CERTIFICATE 1
STA	TEMI	ENT O	<b>OF THE CASE</b>
A.	Aggr	avation	ι 3
	(a)	Aggra	avators argued and found
		1.	Prior violent felony conviction
		2.	Committed during a burglary
	(b)	Aggra	avators not argued or instructed but found anyway 4

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Johnny Shane Kormondy was tried and convicted in 1994 in the Circuit Court, First Judicial Circuit, in and for Escambia County, of first-degree murder, three counts of armed sexual battery, one count of burglary of a dwelling with assault and intent to commit theft, and one count of armed robbery.<sup>1</sup> The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1.</sup> Also convicted, in separate proceedings, were co-perpetrators Curtis Buffkin and James Hazen. Both Buffkin and Hazen received life sentences. <u>See</u> V5T480-82 (parties stipulated as to prior convictions and life sentences of all three co-perpetrators arising from this criminal episode); <u>see also Hazen v. State</u>, 700 So. 2d 1207 (Fla. 1997).

criminal episode at issue occurred on or about July 11, 1993. The trial court sentenced Kormondy to death on Count I (murder), and life imprisonment with three-year minimum mandatory terms on each remaining count, each life sentence to run consecutive to Count I. On direct appeal, this Court held that the murder was not premeditated as a matter of law because the State failed to exclude the reasonable hypothesis presented in the State's own evidence that the murder resulted from an accidental firing of the victim's own handgun. See Kormondy v. State, 703 So. 2d 454, 459-60 (Fla. 1997). Because the State failed to prove premeditation, this Court further held that aggravator embracing heightened premeditation -- cold, calculated, and premeditated murder (CCP) – is precluded from being tried on remand. See id. at 463 ("In conducting the new penalty-phase proceeding, we caution the trial court [that] [c]learly, a murder cannot be cold, calculated and premeditated without any pretense of moral or legal justification if premeditation is not established."). Though finding additional errors, this Court otherwise affirmed the judgments and sentences with the exception of the sentence of death, which it vacated and remanded with instructions for a new penalty phase proceeding in front of a new jury. See id. at 463-64.

The Hon. Joseph Q. Tarbuck presided over the new sentencing proceeding, which was held before a new jury between May 3-5, 1999. See V3T1-V5T564. The State presented only evidence that had been introduced at the first trial, with the prosecutor acknowledging before the resentencing trial that the State had no new evidence to present at least insofar as the manner in which the crime was committed. See V3T18-19.

Kormondy did not testify and presented no evidence. See V5T48-88.

The jury returned a recommendation of death by a vote of 8-4. See V2R180, V5T558. On June 30, 1999,<sup>2</sup> the trial court held a presentencing hearing, see S2R216-19, and on July 7, 1999, the trial court imposed the death sentence, see V2R202-10, V2R186-201. The written sentencing order is attached as Appendix 1-9.

### A. <u>Aggravation</u>

The facts of the criminal episode are the same as those stated in this Court's original opinion. See Kormondy v. State, 703 So. 2d 454 (Fla. 1997). Despite this Court's previous order acquitting Kormondy of premeditated murder, see 703 So. 2d at 459-60, the State argued in resentencing the theory that this was a premeditated murder committed for the purpose of witness elimination, see, e.g., V5T527-28, and the trial court built its entire sentencing order on that foundation, holding that the murder was a "premeditated," "preplanned," "prearranged plan of witness elimination," see V2R193-98, V2R205-09, V2R202-10, V2R189-99.

## (a) <u>Aggravators argued and found</u>

The trial court's written and oral pronouncement enumerated two aggravating circumstances found to have been proved, both of which were argued by the State:

## 1. Prior violent felony conviction<sup>3</sup>

The Defendant has previously been convicted of a felony involving the use of threat or violence, namely, the robbery of Mr. and/or Mrs. McAdams or the sexual battery of Mrs. McAdams.

V2R203, V2R188-89; and:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Inexplicably, the supplemental record appears to contain the wrong date of the hearing, July 30, 1999. See S2R216. The correct date appears to have been June 30, 1999. See V5T560-61, V2R202-03.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3.</sup> See § 921.141(5)(b), Fla. Stat. (1993).

## 2. <u>Committed during a burglary</u><sup>4</sup>

The crime for which the Defendant is to be sentenced was committed while he was engaged in or an accomplice in the commission of or an attempt to commit a crime of burglary.

#### V2R204, V2R190-91.

## (b) Aggravators not argued or instructed but found anyway

Without enumeration, the trial court found three additional <u>uncharged</u> aggravating circumstances in the course of enumerating its findings as to the "committed during a burglary" aggravator and its mitigation review. None of these three aggravating circumstances were sought by the State at the charge conference, <u>see V5T492-503</u>, closing argument, <u>see V5T505-09</u>, or in its sentencing memorandum, <u>see V2R182</u>; and none of the three were included in the jury's instructions, <u>see V2R174-75</u>, V5T546-47. Nonetheless, the findings of three uncharged aggravators were repeated throughout the sentencing order:

#### 3. Cold, Calculated, and Premeditated:<sup>5</sup>

The evidence establishes beyond a reasonable doubt that the <u>Defendant</u> and his two accomplices, Buffkin and Hazen, entered the McAdams' home forcibly and at gunpoint with a premeditated intent to commit robbery and burglary and, to avoid detection and arrest, eliminating the victims.

## V2R204, V2R190 (Emphasis supplied).

The contention the killing of Gary McAdams was accidental is abundantly refuted by the findings referred to above. There is no evidence in the record to the effect that the killing was accidental and the record is clear that the killing was premeditated, that is, that all witnesses were to be eliminated after completion of the crimes.

V2R209, V2R198 (Emphasis supplied).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4.</sup> <u>See</u> § 921.141(5)(d), Fla. Stat. (1993).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5.</sup> <u>See</u> § 921.141(5)(i), Fla. Stat. (1993).

The evidence is conclusive that <u>witness elimination was an intended</u> and methodically planned component of the criminal events culminating in the execution of Mr. McAdams.

V2R205, V2R191 (Emphasis supplied).

One can reasonably conclude that the firing of the shot in the bedroom could have been solely for the purpose of creating in the minds of the accomplices in the kitchen that Buffkin had, in fact, completed his part of the <u>prearranged elimination</u> of both Gary and Cecilia McAdams.

V2R205-06, V2R192-93 (Emphasis supplied).

The Court finds that the evidence overwhelmingly supports a prearranged plan of witness elimination, and that the dominant and only motive for the killing of Gary McAdams was to avoid arrest or detection.

V2R206, V2R193 (Emphasis supplied).

The Defendant's participation in the rape of Mrs. McAdams by various means and the execution style murder of Mr. McAdams...

V2R206, V2R193 (Emphasis supplied).

the evidence was overwhelming that the killing of Gary McAdams was pre-planned and that the killing was an execution inasmuch as Gary McAdams was shot in the back of the head while kneeling on the kitchen floor and that Kormondy was the executioner.

V2R208-09, V2R197 (Emphasis supplied).

...it is abundantly clear that Kormondy shot Gary McAdams in the back of the head, execution style...

V2R209, V2R198 (Emphasis supplied).

4. <u>Dominant motive of witness elimination</u>:<sup>6</sup>

The Court finds that the evidence overwhelmingly supports a <u>prearranged plan of witness elimination</u>, and that <u>the dominant and only motive for the killing of Gary McAdams was to avoid arrest or detection</u>.

V2R206, V2R193 (Emphasis supplied).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6.</sup> <u>See</u> § 921.141(5)(e), Fla. Stat. (1993).

The <u>evidence establishes beyond a reasonable doubt</u> that the Defendant and his two accomplices, Buffkin and Hazen, entered the McAdams' home forcibly and at gunpoint with a premeditated intent to commit robbery and burglary and, <u>to avoid detection and arrest</u>, <u>eliminating the victims</u>.

V2R204, V2R190 (Emphasis supplied).

The evidence is conclusive that <u>witness elimination was an intended</u> <u>and methodically planned component</u> of the criminal events culminating in the execution of Mr. McAdams.

V2R205, V2R191 (Emphasis supplied).

The killing, therefore, of Gary McAdams <u>could have served no</u> <u>purpose other than to avoid arrest or detection</u>.

V2R206, V2R192 (Emphasis supplied).

5. <u>Heinous, atrocious, or cruel</u>:<sup>7</sup>

This Court concludes beyond a reasonable doubt that the conduct of the Defendant, in conjunction with his co-Defendants, towards the victims was unconscionable and pitiless and unnecessarily torturous to the victims.

V2R206, V2R194 (Emphasis supplied).

The Defendant's participation in the rape of Mrs. McAdams by various means and the execution style murder of Mr. McAdams dictate that there can be no doubt in any person's mind but that the Defendant intended to inflict a high degree of pain upon Mrs.

McAdams by forcing her to submit to the multiple rapes and Defendant intended to inflict a high degree of pain and mental anguish upon Mr. McAdams who was caused to kneel in the kitchen while his wife was being assaulted time and again by the Defendants.

V2R206, V2R193 (Emphasis supplied).

There is absolutely <u>no indication</u> that during the entire course of the Defendant's criminal conduct did <u>he show any conscious compassion or pity</u> for either of the victims.

V2R206, V2R194 (Emphasis supplied).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> See § 921.141(5)(h), Fla. Stat. (1993).

The terror that was coursing through the minds of Mr. and Mrs. McAdams as he knelt on the kitchen floor and as she was being raped in the bedroom must be considered.

V2R206, V2R194 (Emphasis supplied).

The <u>vicious attacks</u> upon the victims were within the supposed safety of the victims' own home.

V2R207, V2R194 (Emphasis supplied).

#### B. <u>Mitigation</u>

The trial court's oral and written pronouncements are to some extent selfcontradictory or unclear.

## (a) Statutory mitigation

The trial court neither expressly found nor rejected the statutory mitigator that Kormondy was an accomplice in the capital felony committed by coperpetrator Curtis Buffkin and that Kormondy's participation was relatively minor. In its oral pronouncement, the trial court contradicted itself by saying it "gives [it] no weight," V2R196 (emphasis supplied), but moments later said it "is not well founded, and to this mitigating factor the Court gives little weight," V2R197 (emphasis supplied). The trial court's written order said this factor "is not well founded," V2R208, and "gives it no weight," V2R207.

## (b) Nonstatutory mitigation

- (1) The trial court said it gave "no weight" to the nonstatutory mitigator that because co-perpetrators Buffkin and Hazen were sentenced to life, Kormondy should be sentenced to life, see V2R198, V2R209, though the court did not expressly say the factor was rejected.
- (2) The trial court said the mitigator that the killing of Gary McAdams was accidental was "unfounded." V2R198, V2R209.

- (3) As to the factor that Kormondy cooperated with law enforcement officers after his capture resulting in the apprehension of the coperpetrators, the trial court's oral pronouncement gave it "<u>little</u> or no weight, V2R199 (emphasis supplied), while its written findings gave it "<u>no</u> weight," V2R209 (emphasis supplied).
- (4) As to Kormondy's good conduct during the course of the proceedings, the trial court said it "disagrees" with the suggestion that some weight be given this mitigator. V2R199, V2R209.

Kormondy timely filed a notice of appeal. See V2R217.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

#### A. Prior to the crime

On or about July 9, 1993, two days before the homicide in this case, Curtis Buffkin stole a .44-caliber pistol from the home of James Chaney, 10961 Tara Dawn Circle, Pensacola. The State introduced no evidence implicating any other person in that burglary and firearm theft. <u>See</u> V4T346-47.

On Saturday evening, July 11, 1993, Kormondy was home with his then-wife Valerie Kormondy, and friends Amy Bradley, James Popejoy and his wife Sandra, Curtis Buffkin, and James Hazen. See V4T349-50, V4T359. Valerie said Buffkin talked about robbing a house on Gulf Beach, and nobody heard Kormondy say a word about it. See V4T357. At around 9 p.m., Buffkin left the house with Kormondy and Hazen. See V4T350. Kormondy had a gun, presumably the one Buffkin had stolen. See V4T357, V4T360.

## B. <u>Cecilia McAdams' testimony about the criminal episode</u>

In describing the criminal episode, Cecilia McAdams identified Buffkin as the assailant who led the assault at gunpoint. She was unable to identify the other two assailants, though she did give some testimony about their descriptions. To the

extent that her account supports inferences identifying each person and their respective actions, those inferences, read in the in the light most favorable to the prevailing party as required by law, are set forth below. These inferences, however, differ in some respects from details given and inferences derived from Kormondy's statements, which the State also introduced, as well as Buffkin's testimony against Hazen, which Kormondy submitted to the trial court.<sup>8</sup>

On Saturday night, July 11, Gary and Cecilia McAdams had been attending Woodham High School class reunion at the Scenic Hills Country Club. <u>See</u> V4T295. On the way home they stopped at Whataburger to get breakfast taquitos and a cup of coffee. <u>See</u> V4T297. Cecilia McAdams put the food down on the bar, and took off her shoes. Gary McAdams went straight to the bathroom, picked up their new puppy to take it out, and headed into the kitchen. They heard a loud knock on the door. Gary McAdams asked who it was. The response was, "It's me." <u>See</u> V4T300-02.

Standing at the door was Curtis Buffkin, wearing black pants and a white T-shirt, and pointing a pistol at the couple. <u>See V4T302-03</u>. His hands and face were not covered, and Cecilia McAdams was able to identify him. <u>See V4T319</u>, V4T326-27. The gun was the same .44-caliber pistol Buffkin had stolen two nights earlier from the home of James Chaney. <u>See V4T346-47</u>.

Buffkin ordered the couple to kneel down on the floor and put their heads down, threatening to kill them if they did not obey. See V4T303. Buffkin then led

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> This is the same problem noted in <u>Kormondy v. State</u>, 703 So. 2d 454, 456 n.1 (Fla. 1997), and <u>Hazen v. State</u>, 700 So. 2d 1207, 1208 n.1 (Fla. 1997), where the Court observed that the factual scenarios presented at the different trials were different, and neither record is entirely clear as to the relative locations of the perpetrators at the time of the fatal shot.

the way into the home, followed by Hazen and Kormondy. Hazen and Kormondy had their faces and hands covered so they could not be identified. <u>See</u> V4T319, V4T304, S2P188-89.

As Hazen and Kormondy walked through the house, they explained that they were pulling all the phone cords out and closing the blinds. See V4T304-05. One of the men asked for the couple's money and car keys. Gary McAdams tossed his money, wallet, and keys onto the floor. Cecilia McAdams' purse and keys were lying on the bar and she told them to take it. See V4T305-06.

While kneeling with her husband beside Buffkin who was holding the .44-caliber pistol on them, Cecilia McAdams heard dresser drawers being pulled out and assumed that her things were being rifled. Hazen came back to the front of the house to the kitchen and asked Gary McAdams who he thought he was going to hurt with this, meaning, she assumed, he had found Gary's handgun. See V4T307-08. Gary McAdams replied, "No one." Hazen replied to Gary McAdams, "You're right. You're not." See V4T308.

Hazen walked around behind Cecilia McAdams and rubbed Gary
McAdams' gun along her hip. He said, "You have a cute ass. Come with me."

See V4T308. She and her husband begged him not to do that. See V4T309.

Hazen took her back into the vanity area of the master bedroom, told her to take off her clothes, made her sit on the toilet in the bathroom, and made her perform oral sex on him. She was gagging and he told her if she let it come out of her mouth one more time "he would blow my head off." See V4T310-11. Hazen told her to get up and go out into the vanity area, where she saw Kormondy by her bed going through one of her purses. See V4T311-13. Hazen asked Kormondy if he didn't want to have some of her, and he said "yes." Kormondy then raped her vaginally while Hazen continued to rape her orally at the same time. While they were doing

that, they said "it was good pussy." <u>See V4T313-14</u>. Hazen ejaculated in her mouth, told her to sit up, and Hazen said, "Swallow it, Bitch." <u>See V4T315</u>.

Cecilia McAdams was made to get up and walk back into the kitchen and kneel down with her husband. She took his hand and they yelled at her not to touch him. They found a beer in the refrigerator, opened it and slammed it down between Cecilia and Gary and told them to drink it. Gary McAdams asked which one, and they said "you," and he complied. See V4T315.

Buffkin then told Cecilia McAdams to get up and go to the back of the house again, which she did. <u>See V4T315-16</u>. Buffkin took her to the back, touched her with the gun, and said "I don't know what the other two did. I think you're going to like what I'm going to do." <u>See V4T316</u>. Buffkin reached around her, took a towel off the rod, made her lie down in the vanity area, and vaginally raped her. <u>See V4T316</u>.

Before Buffkin finished, Cecilia McAdams heard a gunshot. "I screamed Gary's name," she said. <u>See V4T316-17</u>. There was no answer. There were voices yelling out from the front, which she assumed was directed to Buffkin, the one who was with her. Buffkin threw the towel over her face. "Just right after that, there was a gunshot that went off in the bedroom ... My bedroom, the master bedroom." She jumped up and ran out. <u>See V4T317</u>.

Cecilia McAdams was naked. <u>See</u> V4T318. "I saw my husband laying on the floor with blood coming out of the back of his head," she said. <u>See</u> V4T318. She screamed loudly, tried to use the phone, but it did not work. She grabbed a towel off the chair and ran outside, where she a neighbor met her. Cecilia McAdams screamed that her husband had been shot. <u>See</u> V4T319, V4T238-41, V4T243-47. Moments earlier, a neighbor heard a gunshot, saw a man running across the front yard, and heard several voices hollering from the direction in which

the man turned to run. The man wore a T-shirt and had dark pants, <u>see V4T234-</u>36, as Buffkin had been described, <u>see V4T302-03</u>.

#### C. After the crime

Buffkin, Hazen and Kormondy were in Kormondy's home by 5 a.m., when Valerie Kormondy awoke and saw them sitting together. See V4T349-50. She went back to bed without speaking to them. About two hours later, at 7:00 a.m., Valerie Kormondy said she got a telephone call from Elaine Barnett, with whom Hazen had been visiting. Valerie Kormondy awakened Hazen and told him that Barnett wanted Hazen to go out with her. See V4T351-55. Valerie Kormondy drove Hazen in her husband's car to the Food Lion on Pine Forest Road and found a bag of jewelry in the car. See V4T355-56. Later, Valerie Kormondy confronted her husband and told him to leave. See V4T357.

#### D. <u>Statements and arrest</u>

William Long, Valerie Kormondy's cousin, allowed Kormondy to move in with him temporarily after the fight with Valerie. <u>See</u> V4T383. One time, Long and Kormondy were driving in Kormondy's truck when it ran out of gas. They went to a general food store, got some gas, and while paying for the gas, Long saw a \$50,000 reward bulletin regarding the McAdams case. As Long and Kormondy walked out of the store, Kormondy "said that the only way they'd ever catch the person that shot Mr. McAdams is if they were right behind us right then." <u>See</u> V4T384. Long said he told Kormondy he didn't want to hear anything else about it. He wanted no part of it. Kormondy seemed "pretty upset." <u>See</u> V4T384.

After they went home, they discussed the McAdams incident again:

Q. [BY STATE] What did he tell you that happened?

A. [LONG] He said that him and the other two gentlemen went up to the house. One of them knocked on the door. When the man opened the door, they rushed him. And it's a little vague between there. He

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