IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOHNNY SHANE KORMONDY,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. SC96197

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

_____/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ESCAMBIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CURTIS M. FRENCH ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 291692

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY

PL-01 THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050

GENERAL

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

lvii

was upheld on appeal. More importantly, however, is that <u>Ashe</u> <u>v. Swenson</u> involved reprosecutions; Kormondy can cite no case in which the collateral estoppel rationale of <u>Ashe</u> has been applied to sentencing proceedings, even capital sentencing proceedings. The rule in this State is that, a resentencing being in all respects an entirely new proceeding on a clean slate, the State may present additional evidence in support of an aggravator on resentencing.

Kormondy does not even argue that the evidence is insufficient to support the witness elimination aggravator except to say that the evidence is the same as was presented in the original trial, and the law of the case doctrine should apply. But the evidence, while largely the same, is not quite. Love did not testify at the original trial that the murder weapon would not have gone off accidentally if it had been slammed against a metal rail or even thrown across the room. Moreover, there was no evidence presented at the original sentencing that Hazen had said that he would have made sure that Mrs. McAdams was dead if he had been there. In fact, evidence consistent with premeditation was presented previously; this Court merely held that it did not "exclude" an accidental shooting. However, the evidence presented at resentencing is sufficient to satisfy the circumstantial evidence standard of

lviii

review set out in this Court's recent decision in <u>Miller v.</u> <u>State</u>, 25 Fla. L. Weekly S649 (Fla. Aug. 31, 2000). Under that standard of review, the test on appeal is not whether the appellate court is itself convinced that the evidence excludes all reasonable hypotheses of innocence, but only whether there is substantial, competent evidence inconsistent with innocence. As set out in <u>Miller</u>, the question of whether the evidence fails to exclude all reasonable hypotheses of innocence is for the factfinder to determine, and where there is substantial, competent evidence to support the factfinder's decision, this Court will not reverse. The State is not required to rebut conclusively every possible variation of events which could be inferred from the evidence, but only to introduce competent evidence which is inconsistent with the defendant's theory of events.

Kormondy contends the gun went off accidentally. However, the testimony of the firearms examiner is inconsistent with such contention. He said that a gun like Mr. McAdams owned, in reasonably good working order and not cocked, would not go off accidentally simply by poking someone in the head with it; on the contrary, it would not go off even if thrown clear across the room or slammed up against a metal barrier. It is true that, because Kormondy disposed of the gun, Love could not

lix

examine it. However, the person who traded the gun to Mr. McAdams three years earlier testified that it was in good working order when he gave it to Mr. McAdams. Mr. McAdams was a high-ranking officer of a bank, who owned only this one gun, which he occasionally used for target practice. Guns generally remain in good working order for a long time, and there is no indication that Mr. McAdams is the kind of person who would have modified his gun to give it a hair trigger or otherwise have abused it. Absent any evidence to the contrary, there is absolutely no reason to assume that Mr. McAdams' gun was not in reasonably good working order at the time of the murder.

Moreover, Mr. McAdams was shot at point-blank range; the testimony of the medical examiner was that the gun was pressed "firmly" to Mr. McAdams' skull. We know that Mr. McAdams was unarmed and that Mr. and Mrs. McAdams did everything the intruders told them to. We know that the McAdams had been repeatedly threatened with having their brains blown out. We know that Hazen was upset that Mrs. McAdams wasn't killed and that if he had been in the bedroom with her she would have died. And we know that Kormondy lied to police about not having raped Mrs. McAdams and that he lied about Buffkin having shot Mr. McAdams. There simply is no reason to credit his statement to police that the shooting was an accident, and it strains reason

lx

to think that such a shooting was an "accident." Moreover, even if Kormondy did not mean to shoot when he did, he and the others planned to kill the McAdams before they left. There is no other rational explanation for Buffkin having shot into the floor after Mr. McAdams was shot except to convince his cohorts that their plan to eliminate witnesses had been carried out, or for Hazen's testimony that he would have made sure she was dead if he had been in the bedroom with Buffkin.

Competent, substantial evidence supports this aggravator. The State does not think the trial court erred in finding that this murder was a planned witness elimination. Should this Court disagree, however, the error is harmless in light of the strong (and uncontested) remaining aggravation and the minimal mitigation. <u>Jones v. State</u>, 748 So.2d 1012, 1027 (Fla. 1999)(any error in finding witness elimination would be harmless in view of three other valid aggravating circumstances, including murder during a kidnapping and robbery, prior violent felony, and HAC).

Kormondy has not demonstrated reversible error as to the trial court's findings in aggravation.

```
III.
```

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED NO REVERSIBLE ERROR AS TO ITS FINDINGS REGARDING MITIGATION

lxi

The trial court addressed in its sentencing order one proposed statutory mitigator and three proposed nonstatutory mitigators.

1. The proposed mitigator that Kormondy was an accomplice in the capital felony committed by Buffkin and that Kormondy's participation was minor. Insofar as the State can tell, Kormondy is not challenging the trial court's rejection of this statutory mitigator. The evidence fully supports the trial court's rejection of this mitigator, as the evidence establishes that Kormondy, not Buffkin, actually committed the capital felony. The State relies on its full discussion of this matter set forth previously.

2. Kormondy's death sentence is disproportionate to his codefendant's life sentences. Kormondy's argument as to this finding is the same as he makes in Issue I. The State relies on its argument as to that issue. As the State argued there, Kormondy's death sentence is not disproportionate to the life sentences received by his co-defendants.

3. The killing was accidental. This too has been discussed previously. The trial court did not err in rejecting this mitigator as the killing was not an accident. Moreover, even if the killing was not premeditated, "accidentally" shooting an unarmed, helpless victim at point blank range in the head while

lxii

taunting him and punching him in the head with the barrel of a cocked, loaded gun while his wife is being raped during a home invasion robbery is not the kind of "accident" that reasonable persons would find mitigating. And if rejecting such a proposed mitigator was error, it was harmless.

4. Kormondy cooperated with police. First of all, he did so only after police hunted him down with dogs. Second, his cooperation consisted of trying to blame another for the murder and denying all involvement in the sexual battery of Mrs. McAdams. Rejecting this mitigator was well within the discretion given to the trial court. <u>Trease v. State</u>, 25 Fla. L. Weekly S622 (Fla. Aug. 17, 2000).

5. Kormondy behaved himself during the resentencing proceedings. As the trial court noted, he had little choice in view the presence of ample security to assure his good conduct.

Competent, substantial evidence supports the trial court's findings in mitigation. <u>Mansfield v. State</u>, 758 So.2d 636 (Fla. 2000). The trial court did not err, or at least err reversibly, in rejecting this proposed mitigation. <u>Miller v. State</u>, 25 Fla. L. Weekly S649 (Fla. Aug. 31, 2000).

IV.

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY ALLOWED THE STATE TO PRESENT EVIDENCE RELEVANT TO KORMONDY'S

lxiii

PROPOSED MITIGATOR OF COOPERATION WITH POLICE

Kormondy argues here that the State "was permitted to inundate the jury" with "elaborate" testimony about his capture, making

his "inadmissible arrest episode" a "feature" of the penalty phase. Initial Brief of Appellant at pp. 59, 63. The State does not agree that it "inundated" the jury with testimony about his capture or that it was irrelevant.

First of all, the testimony at issue is contained in less than 15 pages of transcript out of almost 250 pages of testimony.³⁶ This is hardly an "inundation." Second, Kormondy concedes that this evidence was offered to rebut his mitigation of cooperation with law enforcement. He contends, however, that his mitigator only went to his cooperation "after his arrest," and also contends that the State may not rebut a mitigator before it is presented.

If Kormondy is suggesting that the State may not present testimony in rebuttal until after the defense presents testimony in mitigation, the State would be in a quandary here, because Kormondy never presented evidence. The State does not agree, however, that a defendant should be able to argue mitigation

³⁶ 4T 336-38, 364-68, 373-75, 379-81

based on the State's evidence without giving the State a chance to rebut that claimed mitigation. In this case, Kormondy may not have presented evidence, but he sure presented his theory of cooperation in mitigation at the outset of the hearing, by way of defense counsel's opening statement, before any testimony was presented. After informing the jury that its job would be to weigh aggravators against mitigators, defense counsel set out Kormondy's proposed mitigation, including cooperation with police:

What you're going to find out during the course of this trial, this hearing, is that after Johnny Shane Kormondy was arrested, he and only he immediately commenced to cooperate with law enforcement. Without his cooperation, without his testimony, the law enforcement would not have captured Buffkin and Hazen. Mr. Kormondy gave them that information, that evidence and that's how they captured them. Another mitigator that you will find is . . .

(4TR 227). In light of this clear statement, Kormondy cannot reasonably claim that the State could not present evidence to rebut this claim that he had cooperated with police.

Kormondy contends that in any event the State's rebuttal was improper because it went to his lack of cooperation *before* his arrest while his proposed mitigator only went to his cooperation with police *after* his arrest. However, as the prosecutor stated at the hearing, in response to this same objection: "That's like saying the Japanese cooperated in 1946. They didn't do much cooperating before then" (4TR 378). In the prosecutor's view, cooperation with police only after fleeing and having to be hunted down with dogs was not real cooperation.

Whether or not the jury would agree with this assessment, the jury was entitled to hear the complete the story surrounding the issue of Kormondy's cooperation with police before making its own assessment; Kormondy had no right to present misleading and incomplete evidence on this issue. <u>Bolin v. State</u>, 736 So.2d 1160, 1166-67 (Fla. 1999) and <u>Fitzpatrick v. Wainwright</u>, 490 So.2d 938 (Fla. 1986), relied on by Kormondy, are inapposite, as in each of those cases the State had presented evidence in anticipatory rebuttal of potential mitigators that were never presented or argued. (Indeed, in <u>Fitzpatrick</u>, defense counsel had expressly disclaimed reliance on the mitigator the State sought to rebut.)

In the State's view, Kormondy has failed to demonstrate that the trial court abused its discretion in admitting this testimony. <u>Ray v. State</u>, 755 So.2d 604 (Fla. 2000). Should this Court disagree, however, any error was harmless. The testimony was relatively minimal in the context of the entire sentencing hearing. Moreover, nothing in this evidence precluded Kormondy from arguing to the jury and to the trial court that his cooperation following his arrest was mitigating.

lxvi

Finally, in view of the fact that Kormondy's alleged cooperation following his arrest consisted primarily of attempting to take some of the heat off himself by minimizing his own culpability (denying he raped Mrs. McAdams or shot anyone) and blaming another for the shooting he committed, this proposed mitigator is minuscule indeed, with or without consideration of the true motivation for his cooperation (once he recognized that the "jig" was up for him, <u>Lee v. Illinois</u>, <u>supra</u>, he simply resolved not to "go down" alone).

v.

BECAUSE KORMONDY FAILED TO MAKE A PROFFER OF THE TESTIMONY HE SOUGHT TO ELICIT ON CROSS-EXAMINATION OF MRS. McADAMS, THIS ISSUE IS NOT PRESERVED FOR REVIEW

Kormondy argues here that the trial court erred in sustaining a state's objection to a question defense counsel asked of Mrs. McAdams on cross-examination. Kormondy contends that the State bears the burden of proving that this error was harmless. However, Kormondy failed to proffer the testimony he sought to elicit from Mrs. McAdams, and the State has no idea what testimony defense counsel wanted to elicit. Absent a proffer, the State has no way of arguing either lack or error or lack of harm. It is well settled, however, that, having failed to demonstrate the relevancy of the sought-after testimony by way of proffer, Kormondy cannot now claim error. Trease v. <u>State</u>, 25 Fla. L. Weekly S622 (Fla. 2000); <u>Goodwin v. State</u>, 751 So.2d 537, 544 (Fla. 1999); <u>Norton v. State</u>, 709 So.2d 87 (fn. 8)(Fla. 1997).

VI.

VICTIM IMPACT EVIDENCE WAS PROPERLY ADMITTED

Three witnesses gave victim impact testimony in this case: Cecilia McAdams (Gary McAdams' wife); Gloria McAdams (Gary McAdams' mother); and Kay P. Pavlock (a long-time friend and former neighbor of Gary McAdams). There was no objection to any of this testimony, as Kormondy acknowledges. Initial Brief of Appellant at 74. Thus, this claim is procedurally barred in the absence of fundamental error. <u>Sexton v. State</u>, 25 Fla. L. Weekly S818, S821 (Fla. Oct. 12, 2000). Kormondy attempts to arque that there was such a vast quantity of inadmissible victim impact evidence that its admission was fundamental error. In fact, however, the sum total of victim impact evidence was not vast, comprising some 13 pages of transcript. Any possible inadmissible portion has to be minuscule. Moreover, in the State's view, little if any was objectionable. Cecilia McAdams was of course an eyewitness to the crime and testified about it. Kormondy does not contend that any of her eyewitness testimony about the crime was impermissible victim impact evidence. As for the testimony he does complain about, none of it included

lxviii

any statutorily forbidden "[c]haracterizations [or] opinions about the crime, the defendant, [or] the appropriate sentence." Section 921.141(7), Fla. Stat. (1999). Testimony about Gary McAdams and what kind of person he was were properly admitted, as was testimony about the impact of his death on his family. <u>Bonifay v. State</u>, 680 Fo.2d 413, 419-20 (Fla. 1996). The State does not see anything which does not fit within these parameters, but if some small portion of the testimony was outside that permitted under law, then it did not rise to the level of fundamental error in light of the strong aggravation and minimal mitigation in this case. <u>Alston v. State</u>, 723 So.2d 148, 160 (Fla. 1998). Absent such fundamental error, this issue is not preserved for review and no reversible error occurred.

VII.

THE RECENT UNITED STATES SUPREME COURT DECISION IN APPRENDI V. NEW JERSEY IS INAPPLICABLE TO CAPITAL SENTENCING

Kormondy argues that Florida's death penalty procedures providing for sentencing, ultimately, by a trial judge who makes findings in aggravation and mitigation and imposes a life or death sentence based upon those findings as set forth by written order, are invalid, citing <u>Apprendi v. New Jersey</u>, 120 S.Ct. 2348, 147 L.Ed.2d 435 (2000). Kormondy fails to show how this issue has been preserved for appeal by timely objection below.

lxix

The State would contend that, absent such showing, this claim is procedurally barred.

Moreover, it is meritless. Kormondy acknowledges that the <u>Apprendi</u> majority specifically rejected the suggestion that its holding would affect the Court's precedent upholding judge sentencing in capital cases, including <u>Walton v. Arizona</u>, which explicitly approved judge sentencing in capital cases and rejected any requirement of jury sentencing in capital cases. Initial Brief of Appellant at 78. As he acknowledges, the <u>Apprendi</u> Court stated:

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